The role of free radicals in sepsis development

Michael Everton Andrades ¹, Cristiane Ritter ², Felipe Dal-Pizzol ²

¹Programa de Pos-Graduacao em Bioquimica, Departamento de Bioquimica, UFRGS, Brazil, ²Programa de Pos-Graduacao em Ciencias da Saude, Unidade Academica de Ciencias da Saude, UNESC, Brazil

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. ROS and oxidative damage in sepsis early mediators and late effectors
 - 3.1. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage, an energy-taking process
- 4. Free radicals in immunologic response a double edged sword
 - 4.1. Free radicals as a bless
 - 4.2. And as a curse
- 5. Free radicals in circulatory dysfunction
 - 5.1. Nitric Oxide, vasodilatation and catecholamine oxidation by superoxide
 - 5.2. Endothelial damage
 - 5.3. Coagulopathy
- 6. Is there a place to antioxidants in sepsis treatment?
 - 6.1. SOD and SOD mimetic
 - 6.2. N-acetylcysteine and Deferoxamine
 - 6.3. Carbonyl trap and AGE breakers
- 7. Perspectives
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Sepsis is a complex inflammatory syndrome with diverse etiology and wide spectrum of severity. Several researchers have linked reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) with the onset, progression and outcome of sepsis, both in pre-clinical and in clinical studies. ROS/RNS are important signaling molecules but its overproduction must be avoided by organism, otherwise oxidative stress takes place. Even so, the use of antioxidant as treatment in sepsis constitutes a challenge, with both null and encouraging results. In this review, it will be summarized the role of free radicals in the onset, progression and outcome of sepsis, as well as its participation in organ failure and cardiovascular collapse. Experimental treatments that may interfere in oxidative stress in sepsis will also be contemplated.

2. INTRODUCTION

Sepsis is a complex inflammatory syndrome with diverse etiology and wide spectrum of severity, becoming the most common cause of mortality in intensive care units, mainly among elderly, immunocompromised and critical ill patients (1). Sepsis is diagnosed by signs of systemic inflammatory response in presence of an infectious process. Severe sepsis occurs when sepsis is accompanied by organ failure, hypoperfusion or hypotension. In case of persisting hypotension despite the adequate fluid resuscitation, sepsis is called shock septic (2).

Several molecular mechanisms of inflammation and cellular damage have been implicated in the pathogenesis of sepsis, septic shock, and multiple organ failure, including those related to the overt generation of cytokines, eicosanoids and reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) (3,4,5). The heterogeneity of sepsis may be caused by the type of infectious agent and genetic background of the host, leading researchers to question the prevailing theory that sepsis is caused by an uncontrolled inflammation (6).

ROS/RNS are important molecules involved in the maintenance of body homeostasis. In immune cells they can act as chemical weaponry and on vascular system regulate blood pressure (7,8). Moreover, ROS/RNS are important intra and intercellular messenger (9,10). ROS are signaling molecules that promotes NFkappaB translocation, adhesion molecules expression and release of proinflammatory cytokines (11). They can be generated by several pathways, such as enzymatic (NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase, myeloperoxidase, cyclooxygenase), nonenzymatic (Fenton reaction) and during mitochondrial electron transport chain activity. Healthy organisms are equipped with an arsenal to buffer ROS/RNS production. This arsenal is called antioxidant system and is composed by enzymatic (e.g. catalase, superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase) and non-enzymatic (e.g. glutathione, bilirubin, vitamins, glutathione) defenses. When body produces more ROS/RNS than the buffering capacity, the oxidative stress takes place and can be detected by its by-products (lipid, protein and DNA oxidatively/nitrosatively modified).

Several mediators of sepsis progression, such as LPS, IL-1, IL-6 and TNF-alpha are able to increase free radicals generation (11,12). In addition, the release of some cytokines is stimulated by ROS signaling (11). Sepsis and endotoxemia have been described to induce imbalance between free radicals generation and its consumption by antioxidant defenses, thus creating a state of oxidative/nitrosative stress to the host. Plasma analyses revealed that non-enzymatic antioxidants, such as tocopherol, retinol, beta-carotene and lycopene were diminished in septic patients whereas thiobarbituric acidreactive substances (TBARS), an index of lipoperoxidation, were increased (13). In addition, it was demonstrated that despite initiating in low levels, plasma total antioxidant capacity increased over time in non-survivors achieving supra normal levels (14). Pascual also have found higher values for plasma antioxidant capacity in septic shock patients than controls, whereas septic patients presented lower levels (15). This increase in non-enzymatic plasma antioxidant could be related to tissue damage and xanthine oxidase activity, since bilirubin and uric acid were the main contributors to the antioxidant potential in one study (15). Moreover, de Vega have shown direct correlation between plasma lipoperoxides and APACHE III score, and an inverse correlation between plasma total antioxidant capacity and APACHE III (16). These correlation analyses were all done using plasma markers of oxidative stress, which do not necessarily mirror the state of each independent organ.

In order to study the response of individual organs against sepsis challenge, animal models constitute important tools (17). In the late 80s and mainly in 90s

researchers boosted studies about free radical participation in animal model of sepsis. At this time, some studies, mainly about respiratory failure and cardiovascular system started to arise, as well as the first proposals of antioxidant treatment (18). In line with this, our group systematically analyzed the major organs systems involved in the onset and progression of this syndrome using a well-accepted model of animal sepsis, namely cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) (19). Based on these results we also postulated an antioxidant treatment, which was able to reduce mortality rates in 22% (5). Animal models provide the possibility of analyzing organs independently and we have recently verified that biochemical markers of organ failure were strongly correlated with lipid oxidative damage and superoxide dismutase (SOD)/catalase (CAT) ratio activity in rats subjected to CLP. Moreover, both biochemical markers and oxidative damage were decreased with antioxidant administration, which suggest a link between both events (non-published results).

Inflammatory mediators in sepsis, such as LPS, TNF-alpha, IL-1beta and IL-6 are able to induce NADPH oxidase assembling, xanthine oxidase activity and mitochondria impairment, with consequent superoxide release from cells of immune system and vascular system. Thus, at the onset of sepsis the body can produce high amounts of ROS/RNS. In fact, our group and others researchers have shown that ROS production and oxidative damage occurs early in sepsis and may be used to predict mortality (19). Superoxide is a weak ROS but can activate NFkappaB translocation, endothelial apoptosis, endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) suppression, increased tissue factor expression and inflammatory process (20). Moreover, it can react with nitric oxide (NO) and generate peroxynitrite (ONOO) which is very harmful, since it can react with protein, lipids and DNA causing loss of function and energy depletion (21,22,23). Superoxide concentration is held in safe levels mainly by the action of SOD, which converts it to H₂O₂. Catalase and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) reduce H₂O₂ into H₂O. In rats subjected to sepsis there is an imbalance between the H₂O₂ production and its consumption in favor of the former. The consequence is a "peroxide overload" and the possibility of hydroxyl generation through the Fenton reaction.

In this review, it will be summarized the role of free radicals in the onset, progression and outcome of sepsis, as well as its participation in organ failure and cardiovascular collapse. Experimental treatments that may interfere in the oxidative stress in sepsis will also be contemplated.

3. ROS AND OXIDATIVE DAMAGE IN SEPSIS -EARLY MEDIATORS AND LATE EFFECTORS

The increase in free radicals production occurs early in sepsis, since LPS induces oxidative burst and macrophages employ ROS to kill pathogens. This early steps may be decisive to the outcome of sepsis and several antioxidant protocols in preclinical models present effectiveness just when administered prior or soon after the sepsis induction (see table 1). This approach raise the

Table 1. Preclinical and clinical trials with antioxidant compounds.

Model	Antioxidant protocol	Main results	Ref
Endotoxemic pigs	Vitamine A, 30 min after	Decrease lung edema	[97]
Endotoxemic pigs	Vitamine A, 1h before	Improve cardiorespirtory function	[98]
Endotoxemic pigs	Vitamine A, before	Improve cardiac index, decrease endotoxin levels	[99]
CLP rats	Vitamine A, supplemented chow	Maintenance of WBC count	[100]
Endotoxemic mice	Antioxidant (polyphenols, vitamine C, E and trace elements) enriched diet, 7 days before	Improve survival and decrease plasma oxidative damage	[101]
Bacteremic rats (S. pneumonia)	Antioxidant (zinc) enriched diet, 3 days before up to 1 day after	Decrease Caspase-3 and 8 in cardiac tissue	[102]
CLP rats	Vitamine C (i.v.) immediately after CLP	Restore GSH/GSSG ratio, improve liver function	[103]
CLP rats	Vitamine E (i.p.), for 3 days before CLP	Restore GSH/GSSG ratio, improve liver function	[103]
Endotoxemic rats	TMG (water soluble vit E analog - i.v.), just before LPS injection	Improve survival, decrease pulmonary edema	[104]
CLP rats	Silymarin (oral), for 10 days before	Improve survival, decrease TNF, IL-1b, IL-6, LDH	[105]
CLP rats	NAC (oral), for 10 days before	Improve survival, decrease TNF, IL-1b, IL-6, LDH	[105]
Bacteremic rats (K. pneumonia)	NAC (i.v.), 1h after	Improve vascular function, decrease organ injury	[106]
Bacteremic rats (E. coli)	M40401 (SOD mimetic - i.v.), 3h after	In low mortality group (<66%) M40401 worsened survival whereas in high mortality group (>66%) M40401 improved survival	[26]
Endotoxemic rats	M40403 (SOD mimetic) - i.v.), 1 or 5h after	Reverse the fall in MAP, avoid adenochrome formation	[27]
CLP rats	NAC plus deferoxamine (subcutaneous), 3 hours after	Improve survival, avoid oxidative damage	[5]
ICU patients	NAC (i.v.)	Treatment initiated within the first 24h of internation improves survival. After this time, NAC worsened survival.	[24]
Septic patients	NAC (i.v.), treatment initiated within the firsts 12h after fullfilling sepsis criteria	Decrease NFkappaB activation, IL-8. Mortality was not described.	[25]

Abbreviations: CLP: cecal ligation and puncture; i.v.: intra venous; i.p.: intra peritoneal; GSH: reduced glutathione; GSSG: oxidized glutathione; SOD: superoxide dismutase; NAC: n-acetylcysteine

problem that virtually no patient can receive antioxidant treatment before the onset of sepsis, with the exception of the high-risk patients who are already in the hospital and can enter in a prophylactic protocol. Most patients arrive at the hospital fulfilling criteria for sepsis and antioxidant treatment only starts at this moment. Fortunately, free radicals also participate in the course of sepsis and some antioxidant treatments initiated after the sepsis onset succeed. Good examples in preclinical models are N-acetylcysteine (NAC) (24,25), SOD-mimetics (26,27) or those employed by our group, using a combination of NAC and deferoxamine (5). The late effects of ROS are closely linked with energy depletion, as we will discuss later herein.

3.1. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage, an energy-taking process

For many years, it was assumed that impairment of oxygen delivery to the tissue was the main cause of acidosis and organ failure during sepsis. However, endotoxemic animal models which have perfusion maintained at normal levels still presented acidosis (28). Some works have postulated that impairment in mitochondrial aerobic ATP production in multiple organ dysfunction is compatible with the cytopathic hypoxia hypothesis (29). In fact, investigation of mitochondrial structure after LPS insult revealed an increased oxidative damage, GSSG/GSH ratio and decreased oxidative phosphorylation relative to control group (30,31). Moreover, mitochondrial injury leads to the opening of permeability transition pore and organelle swelling, with the loss of electrochemical gradient and deficiency in ATP production (31). The pore also allows cytochrome c to be released into the cytosol where it interacts with the adaptor molecule Apaf-1 resulting in the activation of pro-caspase-9. Caspase-9 then cleaves and activates pro-caspases-3 and

-7, which in turn are responsible for the biochemical and morphological changes characteristic of apoptosis (32,33). The close relationship between free radicals and mitochondrial dysfunction during sepsis becomes clearer considering that antioxidant treatment in rats subjected to CLP was able to avoid mitochondrial swelling and cytochrome c release (32).

Free radicals and RNS, mainly peroxynitrite, are able to cause single strand breakage to DNA (34). This kind of damage is a signal to Poly (ADP-Ribose) Polymerase (PARP) activation, which catalyzes the cleavage of NAD⁺ into nicotinamide and ADP-ribose and then uses the latter to massive ribosylation of nuclear proteins. PARP activation causes energy depletion and can be related to cytopathic hypoxia discussed above. *In vitro* studies have shown that pharmacological inhibition of PARP improves the response of mitochondria and aortic ring against peroxynitrite challenge (35).

4. FREE RADICALS IN IMMUNOLOGIC RESPONSE – A DOUBLE EDGED SWORD

4.1. Free radicals as a bless

Macrophages and neutrophils are cells of the innate immune system, our first defense line against invading microorganism. For this purpose, they are equipped with a myriad of oxidant molecules, such as superoxide, hydroxyl, peroxynitrite and hypochlorous acid (7). Moreover, the hypochlorous acid reaction with alphaamino acids yields reactive aldehydes, which can act as antimicrobial agent (36). The lack of this oxidant system can be deleterious to the host and this has been demonstrated in animal deficient in superoxide generation. Mice deficient in NADPH subunits p47^{phox}, gp91^{phox} and chronic granulomatous disease patients, who also present a

null NADPH oxidase activity, are incapable to adequately perform the respiratory burst and bactericidal functions (37,38).

TNF-alpha, IL-1 and IL-6 are well known inducers of free radicals generation, as well as of antioxidant adaptation. SOD can be stimulated by LPS, TNF-alpha and IL-1 (39,40), providing an adaptive environment to avoid oxidative stress. Other molecules act in immune cells and promote either free radicals generation or antioxidant adaptation during sepsis. They can be exogenous molecules, such as lipoteichoic acid, flagelin or endogenous molecules, such as HMGB1, oxidized phospholipids and Activated Protein C (APC) (41,42,43).

In the course of sepsis, large amounts of damaged molecules are generated in organs and in plasma as a consequence of ROS and RNS generation, leading to widespread oxidative and nitrosative stress, respectively (19). Recently it has been published a protective role of oxidized phospholipids fatty acids. These molecules are able to avoid the LPS-induced inflammation and reduce mortality in endotoxemic mice, thus acting as a negative feedback in order to keep inflammatory process under control (42).

APC regulates the coagulation system by a proteolytic inactivation of activated forms of coagulation factors V and VIII. In addition to its anticoagulant activity, APC possesses anti-inflammatory properties and is known to inhibit the release of inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF-alpha in experimental animals challenged with endotoxin. Some of these activities are thought to be due to the ability of APC to inhibit NF-kappaB nuclear translocation, which is needed to start gene transcription. It has been suggested that APC action requires endothelial cell protein C receptor (EPCR) to exert its anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects (44). However, APC showed EPCR-independent anti-inflammatory properties in human monocytes and this effect is believed to be mediated by APC intrinsic antioxidant activity (43,45).

4.2. And as a curse

So far we have discussed the important and necessary role of free radicals in immune system. However, if cells are excessively stimulated, they can contribute to injurious reactions through ROS/RNS, proteolytic enzymes and pro-inflammatory mediators. If this overwhelming inflammatory response is sustained, it can lead to progressive organ dysfunction.

Stimulated macrophages and monocytes are able to secrete HMGB1, a nuclear protein that mediates the delayed effects in sepsis and endotoxemia and exerts its effects in host cells through membrane receptor binding (46). Some of the characterized receptors for HMGB1 are RAGE, TLR-2 and TLR-4. HMGB1 causes epithelial cell barrier dysfunction, lung injury, fever and lethality, but not shock, and these effects are mediated in part by peroxynitrite generation (41).

The ability of macrophages to produce ROS can become a trouble to deal with. It happens because some

ROS, such as H₂O₂, act as signaling molecules, and can act in the nearby cells, disseminating the inflammation process and leading to multiple organ failure. NF-kappaB is a nuclear factor involved with pro-inflammatory steps (stimulation of IL-1, IL-2, IL-6 and TNF-alpha) and its over stimulation leads to a "cytokine storm" and systemic inflammation. Moreover, NF-kappaB controls the expression of genes encoding chemokines (e. g. IL-8, MIP-1alpha, MCP1, RANTES, eotaxin, etc.), adhesion molecules (e. g. ICAM, VCAM, E-selectin), inducible enzymes (COX-2 and iNOS), growth factors, some of the acute phase proteins, and immune receptors, all playing critical roles during the control of inflammatory processes (47). Besides H₂O₂, neutrophils and macrophages are equipped with powerful enzymatic machinery to defeat invading pathogen and myeloperoxidase is part of this arsenal. This enzyme converts H2O2 plus chloride ions in hypochlorous acid (HOCl), a strong oxidant and microbicide agent. As side effect, HOCl can react with host molecules and participates in pathology progression. It is well documented the participation of neutrophils in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) (48) and atherosclerotic lesions (49). One of the postulated mechanisms is the formation of Advanced Glycation End Products (AGE), which arise from the reaction of proteins with glucose, glycolytic intermediates and other reactive aldehydes, that could be generated in lipid peroxidation and metal catalyzed protein oxidation (50). Recently, it was demonstrated that HOCl can react with free serine and generate N- (carboxymethyl)lysine (CML), a well characterized AGE (36). Besides causing protein malfunctioning, AGE can act as a signaling molecule, binding to receptors, such as Receptor for AGE (RAGE), galectin-3, Class A macrophage scavenger receptor (SR-A), and CD36 (51).

AGE can activate NF-kappaB and then promote increase in VCAM-1, VGEF, tissue factor, TNF-alpha and IL-8, apoptosis, procoagulant activity and platelet aggregation (52,53,54,55), which mirror some clinical conditions seen in atherosclerosis and diabetes (56,57).

5. FREE RADICALS IN CIRCULATORY DYSFUNCTION

Cardiovascular system plays an important role in sepsis, since it can define the progression in the most lethal form: septic shock. Because of this, several studies have focused on the role of free radicals on vessels (endothelial cells and smooth muscle), on heart collapse and on disseminated intravascular coagulopathy (DIC).

5.1. Nitric Oxide, vasodilatation and catecholamine oxidation by superoxide

Septic shock is defined by severe hypotension and decreased perfusion to critical organs despite the increasing levels of endogenous catecholamines and a further lack of response to both endogenous and exogenous administered catecholamines (2).

NOS can be stimulated by several mediators present in sepsis, such as LPS, TNF-alpha, HMGB1 among

others and contributes largely to hypotension seen in shock. The confirmation of its importance comes from iNOS knockout models of sepsis and endotoxemia. Animals lacking the inducible form were more resistant to pressure fall, had the survival improved after endotoxin challenge and presented inhibition of P-CAM and E-CAM expression (58,59).

Despite this, pharmacological interventions have not worked as expected. The main fault in this approach is the use of non-selective NOS inhibitor, which impairs the inducible as well as the constitutive form eNOS. Constitutive NOS is important to maintain blood flow, to avoid microvascular thrombosis, platelet aggregation and leukocyte adhesion (60,61). The design of new drugs, with specific inhibitory activity on the inducible form of NOS, is necessary to achieve better results. In this way, some comparative studies have arisen with advantages for selective inhibition drugs such as L-canavanine, aminoguanidine, isothiourea, S-methilisothiourea and recently, statins (61,62).

So far, the standard clinical approach is to keep pressure with the help of volume resuscitation and catecholamine administration. Catecholamines circulation can undergo a superoxide-dependent deactivating process and have its vasoconstrictor activity broken down (3,4). Moreover, adrenochromes (the oxidized form of catecholamines) are believed to be cytotoxic (63,64). Based on these facts, Macarthur suggested a pharmacological approach by administering a SODmimetic which could avoid catecholamine oxidations as well as avoid other harmful effects of superoxide, such as the generation of peroxynitrite (3). In line with this, transgenic mice that overexpress CuZnSOD have shown decreased superoxide production in aortic rings cultured with LPS ex vivo, as well as improved carotid response to acetylcholine (65).

Curiously, our group found that early increased SOD activity is predictive of mortality in rats subjected to CLP model of sepsis (19). The origin of plasma SOD in our study is uncertain but it can come from damaged organs and works as a general organ failure marker, since tissue SOD are highly active in sepsis (19) and extracellular SOD seems to be diminished in endotoxemic mice and in smooth muscle cells treated with TNF-alpha (66,67).

5.2. Endothelial damage

Damage to vascular wall may cause unresponsiveness to vasoconstrictors, increased permeability to immune cells and pathogens being the main cause of respiratory failure, kidney damage and cardiovascular collapse (68). ROS and RNS participate actively of this process, acting either as a causative agent as a mediator (a signaling molecule). Moreover, at the end of the events, more ROS/RNS are generated as consequence.

One important mechanism of endothelial cell damage is the activation of PARS by peroxynitrite. This enzyme acts after DNA injury and its over activation causes massive ADP-ribosylation of nuclear proteins,

leading to energy depletion and cellular injury (22). Szabó demonstrated that endothelial cells treated with peroxynitrite have a decrease in mitochondrial activity and a concomitant increase in PARS activity, which could be reversed with a pharmacological PARS inhibitor. In spite of this protection, the treatment was not able to avoid delayed apoptotic process initiated by peroxynitrite and the main cause seems to be the peroxynitrite-mediated DNA strand breakage, which can not be protected by PARS inhibitor (22). Other extra nuclear effects of peroxynitrite may be involved, such as lipid and protein oxidation and nitration, direct inhibition of mitochondrial respiration and inhibition of membrane pumps (68,69).

Recently, Boulos extended these findings treating human umbilical vein cells with serum from septic shock patients. The treatment caused a decrease in mitochondrial respiration and ATP levels compared with cells treated with serum from normal controls. Mitochondrial impairment could be reversed with both 3AB and L-NMMA, indicating a role for PARS and iNOS, respectively (69).

5.3. Coagulophaty

The hemostatic system is composed by plasmatic (coagulation cascade) and cellular constituents (platelets, leukocyte, endothelium) and has the objective of preserve intravascular integrity by achieving a balance between hemorrhage and thrombosis.

Coagulopathies are a common event in septic patients, being associated with organ failure and mortality in septic shocked patients (70) and in trauma patients (71). Even so, virtually all patients with sepsis show a procoagulant trend, since LPS, activated monocytes and neutrophils can trigger coagulatory process (72). Once the hemostasis is lost, DIC may evolve, resulting in widespread microvascular thrombosis (because of excessive clotting) and enhanced bleeding (because of depletion of clotting factors).

The systemic coagulation implies in vascular changes as vasodilation, increased capillary permeability and up-regulated cell adhesion, events that are mediated by the activation of several cell types including macrophages, neutrophils and endothelial cells (73).

Coagulation cascade can be didactically split in two pathways, namely extrinsic and intrinsic pathways. Extrinsic pathway is activated by the Tissue Factor (TF) that is released in the blood when endothelial damage happens. Intrinsic pathway can be activated by compounds already present in blood, and acts as an amplifier of coagulatory process. Both pathways converge to the activation of thrombin, which in turn, cleaves fibringen to generate the fibrin network (73). Free radicals can promote TF expression and activity in several cells, such as in aortic and pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, monocytes, isolated rabbit hearts subjected to ischemia followed by reperfusion. A variety of antioxidants are able to abolish the prothrombotic effects of free radicals but the site of free radical production remains to be elucidated (74). Some evidences point to NADPH oxidase,

since treatment with its inhibitor, diphenylene iodonium, was able to decrease TF expression in vascular smooth muscle cells stimulated by activated platelets, whereas xanthine oxidase and cyclooxygenase inhibitors have minimal effects (75).

Besides the role in early steps of coagulation, free radicals can act on thrombin activity and fibrinogen structure, with consequences for clottability and fibrinolysis. Shacter demonstrated that when the whole plasma is subjected to a radical generating system, fibrinogen becomes highly oxidized (76). Isolated fibrinogen subjected to a Fe²⁺/ascorbate system presents impaired clottability that can be attributed to a decreased rate of fibrinopeptide A release. As consequence, fibrin polymerization goes slowly and the network is more branched and presents thinner fibers (77). Another relevant RNS in sepsis, peroxynitrite, was also tested and showed to impair fibrinocoagulation (78). Looking these data one could wonder that both ROS and RNS act in an anti-thrombotic way. Even so, we must pay attention in the consequences of the impaired fibrinocoagulation. Low rate of polymerization is associated with formation of branched and thinner fibers, which cause resistance to fibrinolysis (78). Taken together, these data suggest that ROS/RNS can trigger the coagulatory process and that the thrombus generated can not be easily removed. This scenario may contribute to DIC and organ failure seen in sepsis.

Another kind of posttranslational modification in plasma proteins is non-enzymatic glycation, which can be stimulated by oxidative stress, poor glycaemic control and action of MPO on plasma amino acids, all characteristics common in sepsis syndrome. In diabetics patients it was determined that fibrinogen presents higher levels of glycation than control subjects. The consequence is decreased lysis rate that can contribute to prothrombotic events seen in diabetes (79,80). Unfortunately, there are no studies investigating the role of fibrinogen glycation in sepsis so far. The lack of knowledge in this field has slowed the employment of anti-AGE drugs in preclinical studies.

6. IS THERE A PLACE TO ANTIOXIDANTS IN SEPSIS TREATMENT?

Since it became established that ROS and RNS participate in the onset of sepsis, as well in its progression and outcome, researchers have hypothesized that antioxidant therapy could restore the patient health. However, scientific literature presents several contradictory results, some of them summarized in the present review, which lead us to reason that ROS/RNS are a double-edged challenge. The most important pitfall in antioxidant treatments postulated to sepsis appears to be the short therapeutic window, as mentioned before (table 1). Furthermore, promising animal studies do not get support from clinical tests. Even so, some antioxidant therapies have succeeded in improving survival in clinical studies whereas others still await the chance to be tested.

6.1. SOD and SOD mimetic

Superoxide can react with catecholamines causing its deactivation and thus contributing to septic shock. Moreover, it can react with nitric oxide generating ONOO which leads to protein nitration, DNA damage and contributes to multiple organ failure. To avoid these deleterious effects, SOD reduces superoxide to H₂O₂, which in turn is potentially more harmful than the very superoxide, since it can generate hydroxyl radical. Rats subjected to CLP presented increased superoxide generation and SOD activity as well, but catalase did not increase in a compensative manner (81). This imbalance between these enzymes could be responsible for the oxidative damage seen in this model. Conversely, some studies have shown good results with SOD and SOD mimetic administration (82). As showed by Macarthur, MK40403 (a synthetic and selective Mn-centered SOD mimetic) was very efficient to prevent catecholamines oxidation and to hold arterial pressure in rats challenged with LPS (3). Manganese-based metalloporphyrin complexes, such as Mn (III)tetrakis (4-benzoic acid)porphyrin (MnTBAP), and Mn (III)salen complexes, such as EUK-8 and EUK-134 are non-specific superoxide scavengers that scavenge multiple ROS. Thus, the use of SOD mimetic with broad antioxidant activity could circumvent H₂O₂ overload as consequence of SOD hyperactivity and has shown efficiency in some models of endotoxemia (83,84,85).

6.2. N-acetylcysteine and Deferoxamine

N-acetylcysteine (NAC) is a thiol compound that possesses antioxidant power against a variety of ROS (86) and acts as precursor in glutathione synthesis. Its beneficial effects seen in vitro and in cell culture suggest that thiol compounds would be useful in the treatment of free radicals associated pathologies. Endotoxemic rats treated with low doses of NAC (275mg/Kg in 48 h) presented improved survival rates and decreased circulating H₂O₂ whereas high doses of NAC (950mg/Kg in 48 h) worsened mortality and increased H₂O₂ levels (12). These deleterious effects are attributable to ability of thiol compounds undergo oxidation in presence of transitional metal and generate thiol-centered radicals which can, in turn, reduces Fe (III) to its catalytically active form Fe²⁺. *In vitro* studies revealed that both GSH and NAC increase H₂O₂/Fe²⁺ mediated lipid peroxidation due to the formation of thyil radical (87).

As the transitional metals are important in these pro-oxidant effects of thiol antioxidants, we reasoned that an iron chelator would improve the beneficial effects. Thus, in a well-characterized rat CLP model, with mortality rate of 95% in 5 days, we administered NAC (20mg/Kg each 6 h for a total of 3 days) plus deferoxamine (20mg/Kg each 12 h for a total of 3 days) 3 hours after the surgery. NAC or deferoxamine alone were not effective but when administered concomitantly, mortality decreased to 40% (5). Not surprisingly this association has been effective in several models of inflammation, such as acute hepatic failure (88), acute lung injury (48) and in a model of lung damage after coal dust inhalation (89).

6.3. Carbonyl trap and AGE breakers

Aminoguanidine (AMG) is a highly nucleophilic molecule that reacts with alpha-oxoaldehydes, thus acting as an aldehyde scavenger, avoiding the generation of a heterogeneous class of molecules called AGE. AMG has been employed mainly in diabetes models with some success in avoiding nephrophaties, vascular and lens degeneration (90). The role of AGE in sepsis has been underestimated but some studies start to describe the importance of these molecules, as well as of its receptors (RAGE) (91,92). Besides the role of AMG as anti-AGE, it is also an iNOS inhibitor and metal scavenger. Thus, it may help to maintain vascular tone and avoid metal-catalyzed oxidative damage (90). However, AMG has been shown weak clinical effects and has been rising safety concerns in diabetic patients (93,94), which suggests that new drugs must be developed. In this line, pyridoxamine has arisen as an alternative. Pyridoxamine is one of the three forms of vitamin B6, which is necessary to cysteine synthesis (the rate-limiting precursor for GSH synthesis and have anti-AGE activity (90). This molecule has been effective in both animal model of diabetes and in clinical trial with diabetic nefropathy patients (95,96). Despite this optimistic view about anti-AGE agents, few studies have investigated them in sepsis syndrome.

7. PERSPECTIVES

Several good revisions about sepsis and free radicals have been published recently but we feel that researchers have not discussed some important points concerning the role of free radicals in coagulation, as well as the role of AGE in sepsis. The main goal of this review was to enlighten the reader about some points that, in our opinion, have been overlooked. The role of ROS/RNS in the sepsis coagulopathy and AGEs in sepsis signaling are examples of incipient knowledge that can provide information to the development of new therapies. Moreover, antioxidant treatments are still waiting for clinical trials.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Barriere S.L., S.F. Lowry: An overview of mortality risk prediction in sepsis. *Crit Care Med* 23, 376–393 (1995)
- 2. Bone R.C., R.A. Balk, F.B. Cerra, R.P. Dellinger, A.M. Fein, W.A Knaus, R.M. Schein, W.J. Sibbald: Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. *Chest* 101, 1644-1655 (1992)
- 3. Macarthur H., T.C. Westfall, D.P. Riley, T.P. Misko, D. Salvemini: Inactivation of catecholamines by superoxide gives new insights on the pathogenesis of septic shock. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 9753-9758 (2000)
- 4. Salvemini D., S. Cuzzocrea: Oxidative stress in septic shock and disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Free Radic Biol Med* 33, 1173-1185 (2002)

- 5. Ritter C., M.E. Andrades, A. Reinke, S. Menna-Barreto, J.C. Moreira, F. Dal-Pizzol: Treatment with N-acetylcysteine plus deferoxamine protects rats against oxidative stress and improves survival in sepsis. *Crit Care Med* 32, 342-349 (2004)
- 6. Hotchkiss R.S., I.E. Karl: The Pathophysiology and Treatment of Sepsis. *N Engl J Med* 348, 138-150 (2003)
- 7. Babior B.M.: Phagocytes and oxidative stress. *Am J Med* 109, 33-44 (2000)
- 8. Halliwell B, JMC Gutteridge: Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine. Oxford University Press, New York, NY (2007)
- 9. Asehnoune K., D. Strassheim, S. Mitra, J.Y. Kim, E. Abraham: Involvement of reactive oxygen species in toll-like receptor 4-dependent activation of NF-κB. *J Immunol* 172, 2522-2529 (2004)
- 10. de Souza L.F., C. Ritter, D. Pens Gelain, M.E. Andrades, E.A. Bernard, J.C. Moreira, F. Dal-Pizzol: Mitochondrial superoxide production is related to the control of cytokine release from peritoneal macrophage after antioxidant treatment in septic rats. *J Surg Res* 141, 252-256 (2007)
- 11. Haddad J.J., H.L. Harb: L-gamma-Glutamyl-L-cysteinyl-glycine (glutathione; GSH) and GSH-related enzymes in the regulation of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines: a signaling transcriptional scenario for redox (y) immunologic sensor (s)? *Mol Immunol* 42, 987-1014 (2005)
- 12. Sprong R.C., A.M. Winkelhuyzen-Janssen, C.J. Aarsman, J.F. van Oirschot, T. van der Bruggen, B.S. van Asbeck: Low-dose N-acetylcysteine protects rats against endotoxin-mediated oxidative stress, but high-dose increases mortality. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 157, 1283-1293 (1998)
- 13. Goode H.F., H.C. Cowley, B.E. Walker, P.D. Howdle, N.R. Webster: Decreased antioxidant status and increased lipid peroxidation in patients with septic shock and secondary organ dysfunction. *Crit Care Med* 23, 646-651 (1995)
- 14. Cowley H.C., P.J. Bacon, H.F. Goode, N.R. Webster, J.G. Jones, D.K. Menon: Plasma antioxidant potential in severe sepsis: a comparison of survivors and nonsurvivors. *Crit Care Med* 24, 1179-1183 (1996)
- 15. Pascual C., W. Karzai, A. Meier-Hellmann, M. Oberhoffer, A. Horn, D. Bredle, K. Reinhart: Total plasma antioxidant capacity is not always decreased in sepsis. *Crit Care Med* 26, 705-709 (1998)
- 16. Alonso de Vega J.M., J. Diaz, E. Serrano, L.F. Carbonell: Plasma redox status relates to severity in critically ill patients. *Crit Care Med* 28, 1812-1814 (2000)

- 17. Wichterman K.A., A.E. Baue, I.H. Chaudry: Sepsis and septic shock—A review of laboratory models and a proposal. *J. Surg Res* 29, 189-201 (1980)
- 18. Kunimoto F., T. Morita, R. Ogawa and T. Fujita: Inhibition of lipid peroxidation improves survival rate of endotoxemic rats. *Circ Shock* 21, 15-22 (1987)
- 19. Ritter C., M.E. Andrades, M.L. Frota Junior, F. Bonatto, R.A. Pinho, M. Polydoro, F. Klamt, C.T. Pinheiro, S.S. Menna-Barreto, J.C. Moreira, F. Dal-Pizzol: Oxidative parameters and mortality in sepsis induced by cecal ligation and perforation. *Intensive Care Med* 29, 1782-1789 (2003)
- 20. Jacobi J., B. Kristal, J. Chezar, S.M. Shaul, S. Sela: Exogenous superoxide mediates pro-oxidative, proinflammatory, and procoagulatory changes in primary endothelial cell cultures. *Free Radic Biol Med* 39, 1238-1248 (2005)
- 21. O'Donnell V.B., J.P. Eiserich, P.H. Chumley, M.J. Jablonsky, N.R. Krishna, M. Kirk, S. Barnes, V.M. Darley-Usmar, B.A. Freeman: Nitration of unsaturated fatty acids by nitric oxide-derived reactive nitrogen species peroxynitrite, nitrous acid, nitrogen dioxide, and nitronium ion. *Chem Res Toxicol* 12, 83-92 (1999)
- 22. Szabo C., S. Cuzzocrea, B. Zingarelli, M. O'Connor, A.L. Salzman: Endothelial dysfunction in a rat model of endotoxic shock. Importance of the activation of poly (ADP-ribose) synthetase by peroxynitrite. *J Clin Invest* 100, 723-735 (1997)
- 23. Kirkland J.B.: Lipid peroxidation, protein thiol oxidation and DNA damage in hydrogen peroxide-induced injury to endothelial cells: role of activation of poly (ADP-ribose)polymerase. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1092, 319-325 (1991)
- 24. Molnar Z., E. Shearer, D. Lowe: N-Acetylcysteine treatment to prevent the progression of multisystem organ failure: A prospective, randomized, placebocontrolled study. *Crit Care Med* 27, 1100-1104 (1999)
- 25. Paterson R.L., H.F. Galley, N.R. Webster: The effect of N-acetylcysteine on nuclear factor- (kappa)B activation, interleukin-6, interleukin-8, and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in patients with sepsis. *Crit Care Med* 31, 2574-2578 (2003)
- 26. Cui X., C. Parent, H. Macarthur, S.D. Ochs, E. Gerstenberg, S. Solomon, Y. Fitz, R.L. Danner, S.M. Banks, C. Natanson, D. Salvemini, P.Q. Eichacker: Severity of sepsis alters the effects of superoxide anion inhibition in a rat sepsis model. *J Appl Physiol* 97, 1349-1357 (2004)
- 27. Macarthur H., T.C. Westfall, D.P. Riley, T.P. Misko, D. Salvemini: Inactivation of catecholamines by superoxide gives new insights on the pathogenesis of septic shock. *PNAS* 97,9753-9758 (2000)

- 28. Van der Meer T.J., H. Wang, M.P. Fink: Endotoxemia causes ileal mucosal acidosis in the absence of mucosal hypoxia in a normodynamic porcine model of septic shock. *Crit Care Med* 23, 1217-1226 (1995)
- 29. Fink M.P.: Bench-to-bedside review: Cytopathic hypoxia. *Crit Care* 6, 491-499 (2002)
- 30. Suliman H.B., M.S. Carraway, C.A. Piantadosi: Postlipopolysaccharide Oxidative Damage of Mitochondrial DNA. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med* 167,570-579 (2002)
- 31. Crouser E.D., M.W. Julian, D.V. Blaho, D.R. Pfeiffer: Endotoxin-induced mitochondrial damage correlates with impaired respiratory activity. *Crit Care Med* 30, 276-284 (2002)
- 32. Zapelini P.H., G.T. Rezin, M.R. Cardoso, C. Ritter, F. Klamt, J.C. Moreira, E.L. Streck, F. Dal-Pizzol: Antioxidant treatment reverses mitochondrial dysfunction in a sepsis animal model. *Mitochondrion*. 8, 211-218 (2008)
- 33. Klamt F., F. Dal-Pizzol, D.P. Gelain, R.S. Dalmolin, R. Birnfeld de Oliveira, M. Bastiani, F. Horn, J.C. Fonseca Moreira: Vitamin A treatment induces apoptosis through an oxidant-dependent activation of the mitochondrial pathway. *Cell Biol Int* 32, 100-106 (2008)
- 34. Cuzzocrea S., B. Zingarelli, M. O'Connor, A. L. Salzman, C. Szabó: Effect of L-buthionine- (S,R)-sulphoximine, an inhibitor of gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase on peroxynitrite- and endotoxic shock-induced vascular failure. *Br J Pharmacol* 123, 525-537 (1998)
- 35. Szabó C., S. Cuzzocrea, B. Zingarelli, M. O'Connor, A.L. Salzman: Endothelial dysfunction in a rat model of endotoxic shock. Importance of the activation of poly (ADP-ribose) synthetase by peroxynitrite. *J Clin Invest* 100, 723–735 (1997)
- 36. Anderson M.M., J.R. Requena, J.R. Crowley, S.R. Thorpe, J.W. Heinecke: The myeloperoxidase system of human phagocytes generates N-epsilon-(carboxymethyl)lysine on proteins: a mechanism for producing advanced glycation end products at sites of inflammation. *J Clin Invest* 104, 103-113 (1999)
- 37. Gao X.P., T.J. Standiford, A. Rahman, M. Newstead, S.M. Holland, M.C. Dinauer, Q.H. Liu, A.B. Malik: Role of NADPH oxidase in the mechanism of lung neutrophil sequestration and microvessel injury induced by Gramnegative sepsis: studies in p47phox-/- and gp91phox-/-mice. *J Immunol168*, 3974-3982 (2002)
- 38. Babior B.M.: NADPH oxidase. Curr Opin Immunol 16, 42-47 (2004)
- 39. Visner G.A., W.C. Dougall, J.M. Wilson, I.A. Burr, H.S. Nick: Regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase by lipopolysaccharide, interleukin-1, and tumor necrosis

- factor. Role in the acute inflammatory response. *J Biol Chem* 265, 2856-2864 (1990)
- 40. Masuda A., D.L. Longo, Y. Kobayashi, E. Appella, J.J. Oppenheim, K. Matsushima: Induction of mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase by interleukin 1. *FASEB J* 2, 3087-3091 (1988)
- 41. Sappington P.L., R. Yang, H. Yang, K.J. Tracey, R.L. Delude, M.P. Fink: HMGB1 B box increases the permeability of Caco-2 enterocytic monolayers and impairs intestinal barrier function in mice. *Gastroenterology* 123, 790-802 (2002)
- 42. Bochkov V.N., A. Kadl, J. Huber, F. Gruber, B.R. Binder, N. Leitinger: Protective role of phospholipid oxidation products in endotoxin-induced tissue damage. *Nature* 419, 77-81 (2002)
- 43. Yamaji K., Y. Wang, Y. Liu, K. Abeyama, T. Hashiguchi, T. Uchimura, K. Krishna Biswas, H. Iwamoto, I. Maruyama: Activated protein C, a natural anticoagulant protein, has antioxidant properties and inhibits lipid peroxidation and advanced glycation end products formation. *Thromb Res* 115, 319-325 (2005)
- 44. Taylor Jr F.B., D.J. Stearns-Kurosawa, S. Kurosawa, G. Ferrell, A.C. Chang, Z. Laszik, S. Kosanke, G. Peer, C.T. Esmon: The endothelial cell protein C receptor aids in host defense against Escherichia coli sepsis. *Blood* 95, 1680-1686 (2000)
- 45. Yuksel M., K. Okajima, M. Uchiba, S. Horiuchi, H. Okabe: Activated protein C inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor-alpha production by inhibiting activation of both nuclear factor-kappa B and activator protein-1 in human monocytes. *Thromb Haemost* 88, 267-273 (2002)
- 46. Wang H., O. Bloom, M. Zhang, J.M. Vishnubhakat, M. Ombrellino, J. Che, A. Frazier, H. Yang, S. Ivanova, L. Borovikova, K.R. Manogue, E. Faist, E. Abraham, J. Andersson, U. Andersson, P.E. Molina, N.N. Abumrad, A. Sama, K.J. Tracey: HMG-1 as a late mediator of endotoxin lethality in mice. *Science* 285, 248-251 (1999)
- 47. Nam NH: Naturally occurring NF-kappaB inhibitors. *Mini Rev Med Chem* 6, 945-951 (2006)
- 48. Ritter C., A.A. da Cunha, I.C. Echer, M. Andrades, A. Reinke, N. Lucchiari, J. Rocha, E.L. Streck, S. Menna-Barreto, J.C. Moreira, F. Dal-Pizzol: Effects of N-acetylcysteine plus deferoxamine in lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury in the rat. *Crit Care Med* 34, 471-477 (2006)
- 49. Daugherty A., J.L. Dunn, D.L. Rateri, J.W. Heinecke: Myeloperoxidase, a catalyst for lipoprotein oxidation, is expressed in human atherosclerotic lesions. *J Clin Invest* 94, 437-444 (1994)

- 50. Baynes J.W., S.R. Thorpe: Glycoxidation and lipoxidation in atherogenesis. *Free Radic Biol Med* 28, 1708-1716 (2000)
- 51. Miyazaki A., H. Nakayama, S. Horiuchi: Scavenger receptors that recognize advanced glycation end products. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 12, 258-262 (2002)
- 52. Bierhaus A., T. Illmer, M. Kasper, T. Luther, P. Quehenberger, H. Tritschler, P. Wahl, R. Ziegler, M. Muller, P.P. Nawroth: Advanced glycation end product (AGE)-mediated induction of tissue factor in cultured endothelial cells is dependent on RAGE. *Circulation* 96, 2262-2271 (1997)
- 53. Pertynska-Marczewska M., S. Kiriakidis, R. Wait, J. Beech, M. Feldmann, E.M. Paleolog: Advanced glycation end products upregulate angiogenic and pro-inflammatory cytokine production in human monocyte/macrophages. *Cytokine* 28, 35-47 (2004)
- 54. Min C., E. Kang, S.H. Yu, S.H. Shinn, Y.S. Kim: Advanced glycation end products induce apoptosis and procoagulant activity in cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 46, 197-202 (1999)
- 55. Chen L., Y. Liu, B. Cui, Q. Mi, Y. Huang, L. Fan, Q. Chen, J. Tang, A. Ferro, Y. Ji: 17Beta-oestradiol partially attenuates the inhibition of nitric oxide synthase-3 by advanced glycation end-products in human platelets. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 34, 972-978 (2007)
- 56. P.J. Grant: Diabetes mellitus as a prothrombotic condition. *J Intern Med* 262, 157–172 (2007)
- 57. Schäfer A., J. Bauersachs: Endothelial dysfunction, impaired endogenous platelet inhibition and platelet activation in diabetes and atherosclerosis. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol* 6, 52-60 (2008)
- 58. Wei X.Q., I.G. Charles, A. Smith, J. Ure, G.J. Feng, F.P. Huang, D. Xu, W. Muller, S. Moncada, F.Y. Liew: Altered immune responses in mice lacking inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Nature* 375, 408-411 (1995)
- 59. Lush C.W., G. Cepinskas, W.J. Sibbald, P.R. Kvietys: Endothelial E- and P-selectin expression in iNOS- deficient mice exposed to polymicrobial sepsis. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 280, G291-297 (2001)
- 60. Parratt J.R.: Nitric oxide in sepsis and endotoxaemia. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 41 Suppl A:31-39 (1998)
- 61. Liaudet L., A. Rosselet, M.D. Schaller, M. Markert, C. Perret, F. Feihl: Nonselective versus selective inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase in experimental endotoxic shock. *J Infect Dis* 177, 127-132 (1998)
- 62. McGown C.C., Z.L. Brookes: Beneficial effects of statins on the microcirculation during sepsis: the role of nitric oxide. *Br J Anaesth* 98, 163-175 (2007)

- 63. Yates J.C., R.E. Beamish, N.S. Dhalla: Ventricular dysfunction and necrosis produced by adrenochrome metabolite of epinephrine: relation to pathogenesis of catecholamine cardiomyopathy. *Am Heart J* 102, 210-221 (1981)
- 64. Singal P.K., K.S. Dhillon, R.E. Beamish, N. Kapur, N.S. Dhalla: Myocardial cell damage and cardiovascular changes due to i.v. infusion of adrenochrome in rats. *Br J Exp Pathol* 63, 167-176 (1982)
- 65. Didion S.P., D.A. Kinzenbaw, P.E. Fegan, L.A. Didion, F.M. Faraci: Overexpression of CuZn-SOD prevents lipopolysaccharide-induced endothelial dysfunction. *Stroke* 35, 1963-1967 (2004)
- 66. Wang W., S. Jittikanont, S.A. Falk, P. Li, L. Feng, P.E. Gengaro, B.D. Poole, R.P. Bowler, B.J. Day, J.D. Crapo, R.W. Schrier: Interaction among nitric oxide, reactive oxygen species, and antioxidants during endotoxemia-related acute renal failure. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 284, F532-537 (2003)
- 67. Stralin P., S.L. Marklund. Multiple cytokines regulate the expression of extracellular superoxide dismutase in human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Atherosclerosis* 151, 433-441 (2000)
- 68. Szabo C., B. Zingarelli, M. O'Connor, A.L. Salzman: DNA strand breakage, activation of poly (ADP-ribose) synthetase, and cellular energy depletion are involved in the cytotoxicity of macrophages and smooth muscle cells exposed to peroxynitrite. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 1753-1758 (1996)
- 69. Boulos M., M.E. Astiz, R.S. Barua, M. Osman: Impaired mitochondrial function induced by serum from septic shock patients is attenuated by inhibition of nitric oxide synthase and poly (ADP-ribose) synthase. *Crit Care Med* 31, 353-358 (2003)
- 70. Fourrier F., C. Chopin, J. Goudemand, S. Hendrycx, C. Caron, A. Rime, A. Marey, P. Lestavel: Septic shock, multiple organ failure, and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Compared patterns of antithrombin III, protein C, and protein S deficiencies. *Chest* 101, 816-823 (1992)
- 71. Gando S., Y. Nakanishi, I. Tedo: Cytokines and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in posttrauma disseminated intravascular coagulation: relationship to multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Crit Care Med* 23, 1835-1842 (1995)
- 72. Dempfle C.E.: Coagulopathy of sepsis. *Throm Haemost* 91, 213-224 (2004)
- 73. Jagneaux T., D.E. Taylor, S.P. Kantrow: Coagulation in Sepsis. *Am J Med Sci* 328, 196–204 (2004)
- 74. Herkert O., T. Djordjevic, R.S. Belaiba, A. Görlach: Insights into the Redox Control of Blood Coagulation: Role of Vascular NADPH Oxidase-Derived Reactive Oxygen

- Species in the Thrombogenic Cycle. *Antioxid Redox Signa* 6, 765-776 (2004)
- 75. Görlach A., R.P. Brandes, S. Bassus, N. Kronemann, C.M. Kirchmaier, R. Busse, V.B. Schini-Kerth: Oxidative stress and expression of p22phox are involved in the upregulation of tissue factor in vascular smooth muscle cells in response to activated platelets. *FASEB J*, 14:1518-1528 (2000)
- 76. Shacter E., J.A. Williams, M. Lim, R.L. Levine: Differential susceptibility of plasma proteins to oxidative modification: examination by western blot immunoassay. *Free Radic Biol Med* 17, 429-437 (1994)
- 77. Shacter E., J.A. Williams, R.L. Levine: Oxidative modification of fibrinogen inhibits thrombin-catalyzed clot formation. *Free Radic Biol Med* 18, 815-821 (1995)
- 78. Nowak P., H.M. Zbikowska, M. Ponczek, J. Kolodziejczyk, R. Wachowicz: Different vulnerability of fibrinogen subunits to oxidative/nitrative modifications induced by peroxynitrite: functional consequences. *Thromb Res* 121, 163–174 (2007)
- 79. Pieters M., N. Covic, F.H. van der Westhuizen, C. Nagaswami, Y. Baras, D. Toit Loots, J.C. Jerling, D. Elgar, K.S. Edmondson, D.G. van Zyl, P. Rheeder, J.W. Weisel: Glycaemic control improves fibrin network characteristics in type 2 diabetes a purified fibrinogen model. *Thromb Haemost* 99, 691-700 (2008)
- 80. Grant P.J.: Diabetes mellitus as a prothrombotic condition. *J Intern Med* 262, 157-172 (2007).
- 81. Andrades M., C. Ritter, J.C. Moreira, F. Dal-Pizzol: Oxidative parameters differences during non-lethal and lethal sepsis development. *J Surg Res* 125, 68-72 (2005)
- 82. Macarthur H., D.M. Couri, G.M. Wilken, T.C. Westfall, A.J. Lechner, G.M. Matuschak, Z. Chen, D. Salvemini: Modulation of serum cytokine levels by a novel superoxide dismutase mimetic, M40401, in an Escherichia coli model of septic shock: correlation with preserved circulating catecholamines. *Crit Care Med* 31, 237-245 (2003)
- 83. Zingarelli B., B.J. Day, J.D. Crapo, A.L. Salzman, C. Szabo: The potential role of peroxynitrite in the vascular contractile and cellular energetic failure in endotoxic shock. *Br J Pharmacol* 120, 259-267 (1997)
- 84. Bianca R.V., N.S. Wayman, M.C. McDonald, A. Pinto, M.A. Shape, P.K Chatterjee, C. Thiemermann: Superoxide dismutase mimetic with catalase activity, EUK-134, attenuates the multiple organ injury and dysfunction caused by endotoxin in the rat. *Med Sci Monit* 8, 1-7 (2002)
- 85. Gonzalez P.K., J. Zhuang, S.R. Doctrow, B. Malfroy, P.F. Benson, M.J. Menconi, M.P. Fink: EUK-8, a synthetic superoxide dismutase and catalase mimetic, ameliorates acute lung injury in endotoxemic swine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 275, 798-806 (1995)

- 86. Aruoma O.I., B. Halliwell, B.M. Hoey, J. Butler: The antioxidant action of N-acetylcysteine: its reaction with hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radical, superoxide, and hypochlorous acid. *Free Radic Biol Med* 6, 593-597 (1989)
- 87. Sagrista M.L., A.E. Garcia, M. Africa De Madariaga, M. Mora: Antioxidant and pro-oxidant effect of the thiolic compounds N-acetyl-L-cysteine and glutathione against free radical-induced lipid peroxidation. *Free Radic Res* 36, 329-340 (2002)
- 88. Ritter C., A. Reinke, M. Andrades, M.R. Martins, J. Rocha, S. Menna-Barreto, J. Quevedo, J.C. Moreira, F. Dal-Pizzol: Protective effect of N-acetylcysteine and deferoxamine on carbon tetrachloride-induced acute hepatic failure in rats. *Crit Care Med* 32, 2079-2083 (2004)
- 89. Pinho R.A., P.C. Silveira, L.A. Silva, E. Luiz Streck, F. Dal-Pizzol, J.C.F. Moreira: N-acetylcysteine and deferoxamine reduce pulmonary oxidative stress and inflammation in rats after coal dust exposure. *Environ Res* 99, 355-360 (2005)
- 90. Negre-Salvayre A., C. Coatrieux, C. Ingueneau, R. Salvayre: Advanced lipid peroxidation end products in oxidative damage to proteins. Potential role in diseases and therapeutic prospects for the inhibitors. *Br J Pharmacol* 153, 6-20 (2008)
- 91. Lutterloh E.C., S.M. Opal, D.D. Pittman, J.C. Jr Keith, X.Y. Tan, B.M. Clancy, H. Palmer, K. Milarski, Y. Sun, J.E. Palardy, N.A. Parejo, N. Kessimian: Inhibition of the RAGE products increases survival in experimental models of severe sepsis and systemic infection. *Crit Care* 11, R122 (2007)
- 92. Sell D.R., C.M. Strauch, W. Shen, V.M. Monnier: 2-aminoadipic acid is a marker of protein carbonyl oxidation in the aging human skin: effects of diabetes, renal failure and sepsis. *Biochem J* 404, 269-277 (2007)
- 93. Bolton W.K., D.C. Cattran, M.E. Williams, S.G. Adler, G.B. Appel, K. Cartwright, P.G. Foiles, B.I. Freedman, P. Raskin, R.E. Ratner, B.S. Spinowitz, F.C. Whittier, J.P. Wuerth: Randomized trial of an inhibitor of formation of advanced glycation end products in diabetic nephropathy. *Am J Nephrol* 24, 32-40 (2004)
- 94. Freedman B.I., J.P. Wuerth, K. Cartwright, R.P. Bain, S. Dippe, K. Hershon, A.D. Mooradian, B.S. Spinowitz: Design and baseline characteristics for the aminoguanidine Clinical Trial in Overt Type 2 Diabetic Nephropathy (ACTION II). *Control Clin Trials* 20, 493-510 (1999)
- 95. Nakamura S., H. Li, A. Adijiang, M. Pischetsrieder, T. Niwa: Pyridoxal phosphate prevents progression of diabetic nephropathy. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 22, 2165-2174 (2007)
- 96. Williams M.E., W.K. Bolton, R.G. Khalifah, T.P. Degenhardt, R.J. Schotzinger, J.B. McGill: Effects of pyridoxamine in combined phase 2 studies of patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes and overt nephropathy. *Am J Nephrol* 27, 605-614 (2007)

- 97. Eriksson M., K. Lundkvist, A. Larsson, D. Nelson, T. Saldeen, P. Drott, O. Eriksson: Vitamin A exerts potential therapeutic effects in the endotoxaemic pig. *Acta Anaesth Scand* 41, 824-829 (1997)
- 98. Eriksson M., K. Lundkvist, P. Drott, T. Saldeen, O. Eriksson: Beneficial effects of pre-treatment with vitamin A on cardiac and pulmonary functions in endotoxaemic pigs. *Acta Anaesth Scand* 40, 538-548 (1996)
- 99. Eriksson M., J. Modig, A. Larsson, O. Rollman, O. Eriksson: Retinyl palmitate injections reduce serum levels and effects of endotoxin on systemic haemodynamics and oxygen transport in the pig. *Acta Anaesth Scand* 42, 406-413 (1998)
- 100. Demetriou A. A., I. Franco, S. Bark, G. Rettura, E. Seifter, S. M. Levenson: Effects of vitamin A and beta carotene on intra-abdominal sepsis. *Arch Surg* 119, 161-165 (1984)
- 101. Abe S., Y. Tanaka, N. Fujise, T. Nakamura, H. Masunaga, T. Nagasawa, M. Yagi: An Antioxidative Nutrient-Rich Enteral Diet Attenuates Lethal Activity and Oxidative Stress Induced by Lipopolysaccharide in Mice. *J Parenter Enteral Nutr* 31, 181-187 (2007)
- 102. Carlson D., D.L. Maass, D.J. White, J. Tan, J.W. Horton: Antioxidant vitamin therapy alters sepsis-related apoptotic myocardial activity and inflammatory responses: *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 29, H2779-89 (2006)
- 103. Kim J.Y., S.M. Lee: Vitamins C and E protect hepatic cytochrome P450 dysfunction induced by polymicrobial sepsis: *Europ J Pharmacol* 534, 202-209 (2006)
- 104. Ochiai J., H. Takano, H. Ichikawa, Y. Naito, N. Yoshida, R. Yanagisawa, S. Yoshino, H. Murase, T. Yoshikawa: A novel water-soluble vitamin E derivative, 2- (alpha-D-glucopyranosyl)methyl-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-6-ol, protects against acute lung injury and mortality in endotoxemic rats: *Shock* 18, 580-584 (2002)
- 105. Toklu H.Z., T. Tunali Akbay, A. Velioglu-Ogunc, F. Ercan, N. Gedik, M. Keyer-Uysal, G. Sener: Silymarin, the antioxidant component of Silybum marianum, prevents sepsis-induced acute lung and brain injury. *J Surg Res* 145, 214-222 (2008)
- 106. Hsu B.G., R.P. Lee, F.L. Yang, H.J. Harn, H.I. Chen: Post-treatment with *N*-acetylcysteine ameliorates endotoxin shock-induced organ damage in conscious rats. *Life Science* 79, 2010-2016 (2006)
- **Key Words:** Infection, Sepsis, Free Radical, Antioxidant, Review
- Send correspondence to: Michael Everton Andrades, Rua Ramiro Barcelos, 2600, anexo, Bairro Santa Cecilia Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil, CEP 90035-003, Tel: 55 51 3308-5578, Fax: 55 51 3308-5540, E-mail: andrades_m@yahoo.com.br

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol1E.htm